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Location:

HABS (WIS, 32-LACK, 1~

HISTORIC AMERICAN BUILDINGS SURVEY HABS No. WI-277
UNITED STATES COURT HOUSE AND POST OFFICE

Northeast corner of Fourth and State Streets, La

Crosse, La Crosse County, Wisconsin.

USGS La Crosse Quadrangle, Universal Transverse
Mercator Coordinates: 15.8452U430,640750.

Present Owner

and Occupant: United States Postal Service (1977).

Present Use:

Main post office for the City of La Crosse, to be
demolished for a new post office and federal building.

Significance: The United States Court House and Post Office, built

1889, is noted for its terra cotta ornament and
Romanesque Revival Style details. This building was
part of a group of late nineteenth century buildings
in La Crosse including a City Hall, County Jail and
County Court House.

PART I. HISTQRICAL INFORMATION

A. Physical History:

1.

Date of erection: Construction began in early June, 1888,
and was completed in September, 1889. An addition was made
on the east side of the building between June 1, 1810 and
March 1, 1911. This addition went unrecorded in the
newspapers of La Crosse and no drawings for this addition
have been found, However, historic photographs show this
addition under construction and are dated. A large addition
was made on the north end of the original building between
December 1, 1931 and April 21, 1933.

Architect: William A. Freret, Treasury Department, is
identified as the Supervising Architect and signed the
original drawings. Royal L. Reynolds was construction
supervisor from June 5, 1888 until August 2, 1889. On August
20, 1889, W.H. Parker, a local architect/builder who
practiced in La Crosse between 1884 and 1893, was designated
as the supervising architect to replace Reynolds. Architects
associated with the 1910-11 addition are not known. The
addition of 1931-33 was carefully matched to the existing
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building and the alterations blend easily with the original
part. The architect of this addition is not known. The
Supervising Architect for the Treasury Department seems to
have been J.A. Wetmore, but the name on the plans is almost
impossible to read.

3. Original and subsequent owners: The original portion of the
building was built on lots 3, U, and 5, of Block 32 of the
original plat of La Crosse. These lots were purchased by the
United States in 1886, from Mrs. G.A. Hayden and George
Farnum. The addition of 1931-33 is on lots 1 and 2 of Block
32 of the original plat of La Crosse. These lots were
purchased from the Knights of Columbus Building Association.
A large house owned by Charles Seymour occupled these two
lots until the addition of 1931-33.

4, Builder, contractors, suppliers: Royal L. Reynolds received
the contract for bullding materials and labor, and also was
the construction supervisor. When Reynolds was replaced in
August 1889, Drake and Son became the new local contractors.

. A reason has not yet been discovered for this change.

5. Alterations and additions: A small addition was added to the
east side in 1911. On the ground floor it contained an
enlarged office for the Post Master and additional space for
sorting mail. The second floor contained an office for the
new Postal Inspector at the southeast end, and added a room
on the courtroom at the northeast end. In the 1910-11 period
an elevator was installed on the interior south wall at the
second bay east of the tower. This elevator had a wire mesh
cage and serviced all three floors until taken out of service.
about 1960. A large addition was added to the north end of
the building between 1931 and 1933, and the upper story of
the original building was changed from a mansard roof with
gabled dormers to a full third story. The interior was
completely remodeled at this time including the removal of
the postal boxes and the screen. The present screen dates
from this remodeling. An industrial type wooden floor
consisting of 6" long 2™ x 4" blocks set on end was installed
at that time. This was an attempt to minimize floor wear
caused by the heavy mail carts. Specific alterations are
treated in the description of the interior and exterior of
the building. '

B. Historical Events and Persons Connected with the Structure:

. 1. Early tenants: Among the early tenants of the building was
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the area offices for the Signal Service, an early branch of
the United States Army that later became the National Weather
Bureau. Measurements of the weather were made from the roof
of' the building and flags communicated the information to the
townspeople and the river boats that passed La Crosse. Other
offices included the United States Marine Hospital, the

‘Internal Revenue Service, and the United States Customs. The

United States Circuit and District Court was held on the
second floor until 1931-33 when it moved into larger quarters.

Sources of Information:
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Architectural drawings:

Copies of the original drawings of 1889 and the 1931 addition
can be found in the Area Research Center, Murphy Library,
University of Wisconsin, La Crosse, Wisconsin.

0ld views:

Photocopies of historic views of the structure from 1900 to
1932 can be found in the Area Research Center, Murphy
Library, University of Wisconsin, La Crosse, Wisconain.

Bibliography:

Bryant, Benjamin. Memoirs of La Crosse County. Madiscn,
Wisconsin: Western Historical Association, 1907.

History of La Crosse County. Chicago: Western Historical
Company, 1881.

e were several articles in the local newspapers concerning
construction of the building and its additions. A

nological list follows:
h 5, 1887 Republican Leader  ™$150,000 for la Crosse"
. 3, 1887 Republican Leader "La Crosse Government
Building"
29, 1888 Morning Chronicle  "Our New Building"

2, 1888 Morning Chronicle "La Crosse Public Building"
14, 1888 Republican Leader "South Side"
17, 1888 Republican Leader "La Crosse Public¢ Building"
1, 1889 Morning Chronicle  "Local Chronicles"
20, 1889 Morning Chronicle  "The Government Building"
. 2, 1889 Republican Leader "It is Almost Completed”
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5, 1889 Republican Leader "0ld Post Office Sites"

15, 1890 Republican Leader "Former Post Masters"

19, 1890 Republican Leader "Moved into New Post Office™
1, 1932 Tribune page 1 "New Remodeled Post Office
1, 1932 Tribune page 1 "La Crosse's New Post Office™
1, 1933 Tribune page 1 "Post Office Addition to be

Finished Early"
2, 1933 Tribune page 1 "New Post Office to be
Completed by Middle of
April"
15, 1933 Tribune page 1 "Local Post Office Officers
Get Orders to Move April 22"
22, 1933 Tribune page 6 "New Post Office Ready for
Business Sunday Morning"
23, 1933 Tribune page 1 "Post Office Located in New
Quarters"
1, 1934  Tribune page 11 "Post Office Moves into New

Quarters During Past Year"

Prepared by Dr. Leslie F. Crocker

University of Wisconsin-La Crosse

1977

PART IT. ARCHITECTURAL INFORMATION

A. Gene

1‘

ral Statement:

Architectural character: The United States Court House and
Post Office is a typical midwestern public building of its
era. Built of brick with terra cotta ornament, the
structure’s Romanesque Revival details and its tower make it
a distinctive landmark.

Condition of fabric: The original building is in fair to
good condition. The addition of 1910-11 is in good
condition; the addition of 1931-33 is in poor condition.

B. Description of exterior:

1.

Over-all dimensions: The original building of 1888-1889 is
three stories and measures 112' on the west elevation,

including the tower, 106' on the east elevation, 63' on the
south elevation, including the tower, and 59' on the north
elevation. The tower on the southwest corner is 20' square
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and rises approximately 112' above the sidewalk, measured
from the top of the spire. There is a small tower on the
southeast corner above the second floor. It is approXimately
66t from crest to sldewalk,

The addition of 1910-11 is one story and measures 22' deep.

On the second fleocr this addition is in two parts extending

north about 32' from the south end, and south about 38' from
the north end.

An extension approximately 7T4' long was added to the north
end of the original building in 1931-33. It is the width of
the original building plus the addition on the east side,
about 85°'.

Foundations: Concrete and masonry.

Wall constructicon finish, color: BRed brick walls with white
stone used for the arches above the windows and doors, quoins
and the trim. There are bands of brick and stone between the
first and second and the second and third stories.

Structural system, framing: Basement ceiling is brick arches
on I beams which rest upon the concrete and stone walls. 1In
the furnace room of the 1931-33 addition, a coffered ceiling
was c¢reated with corrugated metal forms for the concrete.

The first floor is an interior grid frame system anchored to
the brick outer wall. The second floor used a similar system
and the roof was framed with steel rafters connected by a
collar-beam at thelr bottoms and tensions rods between parts.

Porches, stoops, bulkheads: There are ne porches on the main
building or later additions. A set of low stairs leads up to
the entrances on the south and west elevations. The stairs
are flanked by stone arms. In addition, there are several
loading docks, covered and uncovered, cn the east and north
elevations which are later additions. HNone are significant
to the structure; most are not in harmony with it.

Chimneys: The original building had a single large chimney
with a decorative iron cap. During the 1931 additions the
original stack was sealed off and a new stack was added
between the north end of the old building and the addition.
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T. Openings:

a.

Doorways and doors: The doors are set into stone arches
whose imposts have cyma recta moldings with undercut
foliation. Both the third bay on the west elevation and
the entrance on the south elevation has the words "U.S.
POST OFFICE"™ applied to the arches.

Windows: The original windows had wood double-hung sash
with one-over-one lights. The first floor windows are
paired with a single fanlight. They are set into stone
arches similar to those of the doors. Thelr imposts,
however, have plain cyma recta moldings.

The second floor windows have transoms with stone trim
above and below the transom. Some of these windows are
set into recessed panels crowned with stepped brick bands.

The third floor windows were originally dormers but were
incorporated into the third story in 1933. These windows
have arched heads. They are grouped singly and in twos
and threes, OUn the major elevations several of the
groups of twos and threes are set inte blind arches with
imposts. There is molded brickwork between the window
heads and arch. The other windows have arcuated hood
molds that terminate in bosses. Below the bosses is a
band of stone that connects the windows or terminates at
a blind arch.

The windows on the main tower correspond to the other
windows on the first and second levels. On the third
level there are three narrow windows with arched heads
staggered on a diagonal axis. The windows have arcuated
hood molds with boss terminations and flat stone sills.

The fourth level openings are French doors with
fanlights. They are set into arches with imposts. The
arches are outlined with arcuated hood molds with bosses,
above which is molded brickwork.

8. Roof:

A

Shape and covering: The original building had a gable
roof over the court room on the north end and a mansard
roof on the remainder of the building; both were
apparently of slate.
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The main tower has a hexagonal hip rcof while the two
rear towers have chamfered pyramidal roofs. The
southeast corner tower has a pyramidal roof.

b. Dormers: The original building had two large dormers on
the west and one large one on the east. These were
included as part of the wall when the roof line was
altered during the 1931-1933 remodeling and addition.

The original four dormers remain on the east elevaticn of
the original building; they are galvanized iron with
fluted pilasters supporting a pediment which contains a
flaming sun.

c. Tower: The main tower has three turrets. Above the
fourth level window are machicclations, projecting bands
and squares of patterned brickwork at the top.

d. Finials: The original building had fleur-de-lis stone
finials on the turrets of the tower and those flanking
the gable roof. Most of these were replaced with domed
concrete caps in the 1931-33 remodeling. Several remain
on the tower.

e, Metal decoration: There originally was a decorated metal
chimney cap and several types of wrought iron cresting on
the tower and gable ridge. Most of this was removed in
1931-33.

Exterior decorations: There were at least four terra-cotta
panels on the exterior of the criginal building. The origin
of these panels is unknown. They are not included in the
available drawings nor are they menticned in newspaper
accounts of the time, but it is believed that they are
contemporary to the coriginal building. All four have been
removed from the original building and have been incorporated
into the new Post Office under construction. They were
examined after being removed from the wall and no names or
dates were discovered.

a. Dragon: This panel was on the third floor gable on the
west elevation. It is 2'3" high and 14' long. The
design shows a dragon-like creature attacking a snake.
Their bodies are intertwined and c¢hange into acanthus
leaf deccoration. The panel is identified by the
following inseription "am #67." This may relate to the
order number of the contract.
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Beast: This panel was originally located on the first
floor level of the east end of the south elevation. It
shows a beast with the head of a lion, body of a lizard
or alligator, and it has large wings. 1t is 42" high and
27" wide and is divided into two sections. This panel
has no identification nuaber.

Postal Union: This panel was originally located on the
second floor level of the east end of the south
elevation, beneath the paired windows in the short

tower. It is 6'6" long and 5'4" high. The panel shows a
ship in the upper left hand side, with "...5al Postal
Union" on the side of it , a childlike figure is carrying
a bag, another is climbing a telephone pole from which
hang long wirss, another holds a stamping device while
reaching into a stack of papers with the other hand and,
on the right hand side, a cart with "U S Mail" on its
side disappears behind a tree. A total of ten childlike
figures are used in various scenes on this panel. The
identification number of this panel is "504E#15sm103."
The arrangement of the five sections of this panel was
indicated by the nuambers 1-5 enclosed within a triangle.

Justice: This panel was located on the second level of
the south end of the east wall, directly around the
corner from the Postal Union panel. It is 6'6% long and
5'4" high. In the center stand two women; the older one
carries a sword with which she has vanquished a falling
male figure that seems to clutch a handful of snakes. In
the upper left corner, a winged child carries a balance
scale and in the upper right corner a similar child
carries a mirror. The identification number is
6QHE#1Tsm85.

C. Desecription of Interior:

1. Floor plans:

a.

Basement: The basement of the original building
contained toilet facilities as well as various rooms
Wwhose original usage was unspecified.

The 1910-11 addition contained a stairway, toilets and a
fuel storage room. At this time, the toilet in the
original part of the building was removed.
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The 1931-33 addition contained a new boiler room, fuel
room, toilets, and storage space. Alterations in the
toilets of 1910-11 were made, the chimney was moved,
openings were closed up and new ones cut, the basement
stairs in the 1910-11 addition were removed and the
stairway at the north end of the original building
basement was removed.

First floor: The first floor of the 1889 building
originally contained a large work rcom for sorting mail,
a money order department, public lobby, the main
stairway, office of the United States Customs Department,
and offices for the Post Master and assistant Post
Master. The Post Master's office contained a private
toilet and a vault for receipts. Another vault adjoined
the money order area. There was a lookout station above
the vault where the Post Master could oversee the
handiing of mail.

The 1910-11 addition added more flcor space to the
scrting room and may have contained new offices for the
Post Master. The elevator located at the second bay east
of the tower on the south wall was added at this time on
the interior.

The 1931-33 addition added more general work space and
increased the public lobby space. HNumerous alteratiocns
of the earlier building and its addition were made at
this time. A new screen and postal boxes were built in
the lobby, thereby altering the original circulation
space. A lookout gallery was built over the sorting
rooms to allow supervision of workers.

Second floor: The northern 38' of the building
{corresponding to the gable roof section in the west
front of the present building) was the room used for the
Circuit and Distriet courts. A corridor extends from the
¢center of this room tc the stairway in the southeast
corner of the building. On the east side of the corridor
were the Clerk of Court and the Land Office. The United
States Customs Office occupied the southwest corner and
the tower rooms.

The second floor of the 1910-11 addition was not
econtinuous across the entire building. The southern end
of this addition was the Postal Inspector's Office and
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the northern end was composed of several rooms behind the
courtroom. The toilets of 1889 were altered during this
addition.

The second floor was extensively altered during the
1931-33 addition. The original corridor was continued
through the old courtroom into the new addition. A new
court room was built to the east of the corridor and four
of fices were built on the west side of the corridor.

Most offices were completely remodeled. All floors are
wood except the corridor, which has a terrazzo floor.

The walls and ceilings are plastered.

d. Third floor: The third floor of the original building
has a corridor running the entire length of the building
north and south. Above the original courtroom on the
east slide of the corridor was the Petit Jury Room and a
toilet, next were offices for the Department of Internal
Revenue. Above the court room on the west side of the
corridor was the Grand Jury Room, then the Marine
Hospital Services and the Signal Service. The tower
room, on the third floor, never seems to have been used
for anything but storage. It contains a stair leading to
the landing at the top of the tower,

The third floor was not originally a full story. 1In
1931, the original mansard roof of the 1889 building was
changed and the existing dormer windows were enclosed as
the outer walls of the third story were built, The
ceiling of the original court room extended above the
level of the third floor, requiring steps to provide
access to those rooms on the third floor above the court
roo@. During the remodeling of the original courtroom,
this celling was lowered to conform to existing heights
of rooms. These remodeled rooms above the old court room
of 1889 contained offices, toilets and the Grand Jury
room. The other offices on this floor were replastered
and other minor changes were made. The north end of the
1931 addition contained offices for the United States
Commissioner and a Probation Officer with a stairway in
the northwest corner. There were several unnamed offices
on the west side of the corridor.

e. Attic: The attic is unfinished.

2. Stairs: The main stair of the 1889 building is an open-well
rectangular stair with a landing betweéen each floor. There



6‘

UNITED STATES COURT HOUSE AND
POST OFFICE
HABS No. WI-277 (Page 11)

is an elaborate, heavy newell post carved with floral motifs
and strigil ornamentation. There are two balusters per step
on the open-string stair. The balusters have carved strigil
ornamentation alternating with blocks.

The stairs to the towWwer are open-string with two turned
balusters per tread.

In 1910 a stair leading from the first floor to the basement
was built in that addition. 1In the 1931 addition a stairway,
with cast iron railing, leading from the public lobby to the
second and third floors was built in the northwest corner of
the new addition. The stair from 1889, near the center of
the original north wall, was removed as was the stair in the
1910 addition.

Flooring: Brick and wood in the basement, terrazzo in public
areas of the first floor, wood blocks in the work area of the
first floor; wood on seceond and third floors with terrazzo in
the corridors.

Wall and ceiling finish: Painted plaster is used in most
areas. Some third floor rooms have paneling on the walls and
around the double arched windows which seems to date from the
original building.

Openings:

a. Doorways and doors: There are paneled wooden doors with
fluted surrcunds and bullseye decoration at the corners.
The door into the tower from the third floor has a
semi-circular surround and arched head. The surround is
fluted with bullseye decoration at the spring line (the
door will be preserved by the La Crosse County Historical
Society). Most doors were replaced by rectangular
doorways during the interior remodeling of 1931-33.
These doors have glazed panels in their upper half and
transoms.

b. Windows: The windows are treated in a similar manner.
They have fluted surrounds with bullseye decoration.
Some windows have arched heads while others are
rectangular with transoms.

Trim: The original building has wainscoting in the publie
area of the lobby and on the stairway t¢ the second floor.
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During the interior remodeling of 1931 a simple chair rail
molding was used in the halls and offices of the second and
third floors. The courtroom in this addition has simple
paneling of a mediocre quality.

7. Hardware: No significant examples of hardware have been
discovered.

8. Lighting: The original lighting was gas. The building was
electrified before or during the 1910-11 addition. During
the 1931-33 remodeling the light fixtures were changed again.

9. Heating: The original building used hot water heat with a
steam boiler 15' long and 48" in diameter. The heating
system was modernized several times.

Sites

1. General setting and orientation: The major front elevation
is on Fourth Street, facing west, the secondary front
elevation is on State Street, facing scouth. The first floor
of the building is elevated about 5' above the sidewalk. A
stone wall about 3' high borders the sidewalk on the west and
south, and is capped with wrought and cast iron railing.
There is a notable cast iron gate in the stone wall on the
south side near the east corner of the 1901 addition; this
gate is original to the 1889 building. This building was
once part of a complex of public building in the area.
Directly west of the Post 0ffice was the County Court House,
designed in a French Renaissance style. It was replaced
cireca 1962 by a commerceial building. Behind the Post Office,
at Fifth and State, was the City Hall, designed in a brick
Romanesque Revival style and similar to the 188G Post
Office. This building was demolished circa 1968.

2. Outbuildings: There are no outbuildings related to this
structure.

Prepared by Dr. Leslie F. Crocker
University of Wisconsin-La Crosse
1977
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PART 1II. PROJECT INFORMATION

These records are the result of a project undertaken by the United States
Postal Service in compliance with Executive Order 11593 and a Memorandum
of Agreement with the Advisory Council on Historic Preservation as a
mitigative effort in the demolition of the United States Court House and
Post 0Office. John A. Burns, AIA, was the HABS project coordinator. The
structure was measured and drawn by the staff of Kratt, Lachecki, Myers,
and Solberg, Inc. with William Kratt as project architect. Photographs
were taken by Charles Auerson of La Crescent, Wisconsin in April 1977.
The data was prepared by Dr. Leslie F. Crocker, University of Wisconsin-~
La Crosse in 1977. The data was edited in the HABS office by Mary Beth
Betts in July 1979,



